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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Lawrence Graham Trust Corporation (the Independent Trustee)

	Scheme
	:
	Greenup and Thompson Limited Pension Scheme (the Scheme)

	Respondents
	:
	Mr Terry Waite, Mrs Marian Kay, Mr Andrew Harrison, Mr Jeffrey Payne and Mrs Allison Payne (the Trustees)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. The Independent Trustee complains that: 
1.1. The Trustees, in breach of trust and in breach of Section 40 of the Pensions Act 1995 (the “Act”) and the Occupational Pension Schemes (Investment) Regulations 1996, made a loan (the “Loan”) to Greenup and Thompson Limited (the Company), the Scheme’s principal employer.  
1.2. The Loan remained outstanding when the Company commenced winding up in September 2001, which had a significant detrimental effect on the Scheme’s funding position thus causing injustice to the Members of the Scheme. 
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.
JURISDICTION

3. I am aware that, from an early stage, the Pensions Regulator has been involved in investigating the circumstances of the Loan in relation to a potential breach of Section 40 of the Act. Regulation 4(2)(c) of The Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) Regulations 1996 prevents me from making a finding to the effect that the Trustees breached Section 40 of the Act. However, the Pensions Regulator has confirmed to this office that, in advancing the Loan, the Trustees breached Section 40 of the Act, which is a criminal offence.
4. Mr Harrison and Mrs Kay contend that the complaint is time-barred and that the extension of time granted in excess of the three-year time limit was unreasonable and has caused the Trustees prejudice.
5. The Independent Trustee was appointed to the Scheme on 25 February 2002 and contend that they first became aware of the Loan on 10 June 2002. I do not find this unreasonable given that any new trustee, manager or administrator of a scheme will need to take some time to become acquainted with the background of the Scheme. The complaint should strictly have been brought to this office by 10 June 2005. The Independent Trustee however did not make the application until 6 September 2005, three months after the three year time limit had expired.
6. As indicated in paragraph 3 above, the Pensions Regulator became involved with this case soon after the Independent Trustee became aware of the Loan and remained involved until 5 February 2003. I am satisfied that any delay in the Independent Trustee bringing its complaint to this office can be attributed to the Pension Regulator’s involvement of some eight months and therefore it was right and proper that discretion was exercised to accept the complaint for investigation.
SCHEME RULES 

7. At the time the Loan was advanced, in July 2000, the Scheme was governed by a Deed and Rules dated 21 December 1999 (the “1999 Rules”). 

8. Schedule C of the Rules deals with “Trustees’ Powers”. Rule 3(3)(f) of Section C provides: 

“This Rule shall be construed so that the Trustees may in particular, and without prejudice to the generality of (2) above, enter into any of the following transactions:
…the making of secured or unsecured loans to such persons or corporate bodies and upon such terms as the Trustees may in their absolute discretion determine.”
9. Rule 3(7) provides:

“In exercising their powers under this Rule the Trustees shall have regard to:

…(c)
the provisions of section 40 of the 1995 Act.”
10. Rule 4 provides:

“(1)
having regard to the requirements of the 1995 Act, the Trustees may appoint Auditors, fund managers, Actuaries, solicitors and such other professional advisers as they may decide.

(2) Any appointment made by the Trustees under (1) above shall be made in writing…

(3) The Trustees shall be entitled to act on the advice or opinion of any actuary, lawyer, broker, accountant, investment adviser or other professional adviser appointed by them and shall not be responsible for any loss caused as a result.”
11. Rule 8 provides:

“(1)
The Trustees shall be entitled to all the indemnities conferred on trustees by law and shall not be liable for any acts or omissions except those due to their own wilful neglect or default. …
  (2)
The Founder shall keep the Trustees indemnified against any consequences of the exercise of all the Trustees’ powers and discretions except for any act or omissions arising from their own wilful neglect of default and if the Founder fails to indemnify the Trustees they shall be indemnified from the Fund….”

LEGISLATION
12. Section 33 of the Act:
(1) 
Liability for breach of an obligation under any rule of law to take care or exercise skill in the performance of any investment functions, where the function is exercisable— 

(a)
by a trustee of a trust scheme, or 

(b) 
by a person to whom the function has been delegated under section 34, cannot be excluded or restricted by any instrument or agreement.

(2)
 In this section, references to excluding or restricting liability include— 

(a) 
making the liability or its enforcement subject to restrictive or onerous conditions, 

(b) 
excluding or restricting any right or remedy in respect of the liability, or subjecting a person to any prejudice in consequence of his pursuing any such right or remedy, or 

(c) 
excluding or restricting rules of evidence or procedure. 

(3) 
This section does not apply— 

(a) 
to a scheme falling within any prescribed class or description, or 

(b) 
to any prescribed description of exclusion or restriction.
13. Section 40 of the Act:

“(1)
The trustees or managers of an occupational pension scheme must ensure that the scheme complies with any prescribed conditions with respect to the proportion of its resources that may at any time be invested in, or in any description of, employer related investments.
(2)
In this section-

"employer-related investments" means-...

(d)
loans to the employer or any such person, ...

(3)
To the extent (if any) that sums due and payable by a person to the trustees or the managers of an occupational pension scheme remain unpaid-

(a)
they shall be regarded for the purposes of this section as loans made to that person by the trustees or managers, and
(b)
resources of the scheme shall be regarded as invested accordingly.

(4)
If in the case of a trust scheme subsection (1) is not complied with, sections 3 and 10 apply to any trustee who fails to take all steps as are reasonable to secure compliance.”
14. Section 124 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (the 1993 Act) provides:

“Duty of Secretary of State to pay unpaid contributions to schemes
(1)
If, on an application made to him in writing by the persons competent to act in respect of an occupational pension scheme or a personal pension scheme, the Secretary of State is satisfied-

(a)that an employer has become insolvent; and 

(b)that at the time he did so there remained unpaid relevant contributions falling to be paid by him to the scheme, 

then, subject to the provisions of this section and section 125, the Secretary of State shall pay into the resources of the scheme the sum which in his opinion is payable in respect of the unpaid relevant contributions.

 (2)
In this section and section 125 "relevant contributions" means contributions falling to be paid by an employer to an occupational pension scheme or a personal pension scheme, either on his own account or on behalf of an employee; and for the purposes of this section a contribution shall not be treated as falling to be paid on behalf of an employee unless a sum equal to that amount has been deducted from the pay of the employee by way of a contribution from him.

(3) 
Subject to subsection (3A), the sum payable under this section in respect of unpaid contributions of an employer on his own account to an occupational pension scheme or a personal pension scheme shall be the least of the following amounts-

(a)the balance of relevant contributions remaining unpaid on the date when he became insolvent and payable by the employer on his own account to the scheme in respect of the 12 months immediately preceding that date;

(b)the amount certified by an actuary to be necessary for the purpose of meeting the liability of the scheme on dissolution to pay the benefits provided by the scheme to or in respect of the employees of the employer;
(c)an amount equal to 10 per cent. of the total amount of remuneration paid or payable to those employees in respect of the 12 months immediately preceding the date on which the employer became insolvent….”
15. The Occupational Pension Schemes (Investment) Regulations 1996 provide:

“Restrictions on employer-related investments 5—(1) Subject to regulations 6 (investments to which restrictions do not apply), 7 (transitional provisions), 8 (loans that become employer-related) and 9 (multi-employer schemes)— 

(a) not more than five per cent. of the current market value of the resources of a scheme may at any time be invested in employer-related investments; and
(b) none of the resources of a scheme may at any time be invested in any employer-related loan (my emphasis).
(2)
None of the resources of a scheme may at any time be invested in any employer-related investment the making of which involves the entering by the trustees or managers into a transaction at an undervalue where the agreement to enter into that transaction is made on or after the commencement date.

(3)  
In this regulation and in regulations 7 and 8 "employer-related loan" means— 
 (a) a loan mentioned in section 40(2)(d) of the 1995 Act (including, for the purposes of this regulation only, one which falls within section 40(2)(d) by virtue of section 40(3) of that Act);
 (b) a security mentioned in section 40(2)(a) of the 1995 Act which falls within paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the Financial Services Act 1986 (investments and investment business), except any such security which is listed on a recognised stock exchange; and
 (c) an employer-related investment prescribed as such by regulation 4(b) (guarantees and security) or 4(c) (third party lending arrangements).”
TRUSTEES’ ANNUAL REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS
16. Trustees’ Annual report and Accounts for the year ending 31 December 1998 (approved by Trustees 31 July 1999):

“Net Assets Statement
Investments
“…Self Investment of £143,000, in the form of a loan to the principal employer Greenup & Thompson Limited carries interest at a commercial rate and is payable at the option of the borrower. The loan represents 3.3% of the scheme’s assets as at 31 December 1999.

Net Assets Statement 





1998

1997

Loan to Greenup & Thompson Ltd 
143,500
143,500…

Debtors – contributions receivable

from employer



  58,421
 20,617”

17. Trustees’ Annual report and Accounts for the year ending 31 December 1999 (approved by Trustees 27 July 2000):
“Investments
…Self Investment of £143,000, in the form of a loan to the principal employer Greenup & Thompson Limited carries interest at a commercial rate and is payable at the option of the borrower. The loan represents 3.3% of the scheme’s assets as at 31 December 1999.
Net Assets Statement 





1999

1998

Loan to Greenup & Thompson Ltd 
143,500
143,500…

Debtors – contributions receivable

from employer



226,240
 58,421”
18. Trustees’ Annual report and Accounts for the year ending 31 December 2000 (approved by Trustees 27 November 2001):

“Contributions
Due to financial problems affecting the contributing company Greenup & Thompson Limited during the year it was unable to pay employer contributions into the scheme. This amounted to £84,614 in respect of the period 1 January 2000 to 31 October 2000. The contributing company went into voluntary administration on 6 September 2001 and these contributions of £84,614 have been provided against due to it being unlikely that in the foreseeable future the company will be in a position to make any payment.
11.
Employer Related Investments
At 31 December 2000, after the provisions referred to in Note 12 below, the scheme had 1.3% of its assets invested in the principal company, Greenup & Thompson Limited. Had these provisions not been made the scheme would have had 7.4% of its assets invested in the principal company, Greenup & Thompson Limited.

12.
  Related Party Transactions
Due to the contributing company Greenup & Thompson Limited going into voluntary administration on 6 September 2001 provision has been made in respect of the amounts due from the company to the scheme which are unlikely to be paid in the foreseeable future. The provision is for the following amounts: 

Loan to the Company  
£130,074
Employer Contributions 
£284,376
Loan interest


£42,775

…At the year end loans totalling £202,598 (1999: £143,500) had been provided to the principal employer, Greenup & Thompson Limited. A provision of £130,074 has been provided against this amount and the balance of £72,524 has been repaid after the year end by the company…”
19. Trustees’ Annual report and Accounts for the period ending 30 June 2002 (approved by Trustees January 2003):

“11.
Employer Related Investments
At 30 June 2002, after the provisions referred to in Note 12 below, the scheme had 0% of its assets invested in the principal company, Greenup & Thompson Limited. Had these provisions not been made the scheme would have had 9.4% of its assets invested in the principal company, Greenup & Thompson Limited.

12.
  Related Party Transactions

Due to the contributing company Greenup & Thompson Limited going into voluntary administration on 6 September 2001 provisions were made in the 2000 accounts in respect of the amounts totalling £457,225 at the year end which were unlikely to be paid in the foreseeable future. 

£72,524 has been repaid during the period ended 30 June 2002 by the Company.”

ACTUARIAL REVIEWS 

20. Actuarial Review as at 31 December 1998 (issued by Actuary 23 December 1999):
“Changes to the Scheme design from April 2000
Following discussions with the Company, it has been decided that from 6th April 2000 the scheme design will need to change as follows:

1.
Reduce the accrual rate from 60ths to 80ths for all members… 
Results and recommendations

…However given the Company’s recent cash flow difficulties, it has been concluded that the Scheme funding arrangements for the next few years must concentrate on achieving a satisfactory MFR funding position…. 
At the review date the funding level for your Scheme on the MFR basis was 95%, a shortfall of £278,000. Please note that in determining this we are obliged to ignore all “self-investment”; so if the Company were to repay the loan or any part to the Scheme Trustees this would immediately improve the funding position accordingly.
In order to remove the deficit disclosed on the MFR basis of £278,000 at the valuation date the Company has agreed to continue to contribute to the Scheme at the existing rate of 10%...” 
21. Actuarial Review as at 31 December 2000 (issued by Actuary 31 December 2001):

“…The MFR valuation reveals a shortfall of assets below MFR liabilities of £425,700 with a MFR funding level of 92.9%. …”
COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 
22. Abbreviated Accounts for the year ended 31 December 1998 for the Company (completed 25 October 1999):

“Review of activities

…The results show a disappointing loss for the year. This was largely due to unforeseen technical difficulties with the installation of a major printing press. The directors have taken steps to return the company to profitability. …
Profit and Loss Account

Loss on Ordinary activities after taxation 
1998     
1997

and loss for the financial year

(£95,089)     £125,429”
23. Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 1999 for the Company (completed 11 October 2000):

“Profit and Loss Account

Loss on Ordinary activities after taxation 
1999        1998

and loss for the financial year
(£297,962)
     (£95,089)”
TURNAROUND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

24. A meeting of the Turnaround Committee was held on 27 January 2001. Jeffrey and Allison Payne (the Paynes) and Mr Harrison, amongst others, were present. The minutes state:

“Recital: Jeffrey and Allison Payne acquired the business via a whitewash procedure last May. The business made consecutive losses for a number of years prior to the purchase and unknown to them at the time of the acquisition the company made losses totalling nearly £180,000 in the period from January to May….

Pension Loan – AP [Allison Payne] explained that the company prior to the buyout was in substantial arrears of contributions, which was being looked at by Richard Lamborn of Willett & Ross, and that a pension valuation was being prepared for December 2000. If the pension values up then the company may be obviated of some or all of its liability to the staff pension scheme. (sic) AH [Andrew Harrison] confirmed that the terms of both the Staff and Directors Pension loans were being kept to. Since the buyout and after taking advice from Richard Lamborn, the Trustees of the Staff scheme had invested £150,000 into the company which was due to be repaid by December 2000 plus interest. The loan has not been repaid due to lack of funds, which is a serious concern to the directors and Trustees. Richard Lamborn has advised that the loan must be repaid by the end of July otherwise both the IPO and Trustees will have no alternative but to press the company for immediate repayment.”    
MATERIAL FACTS

25. The Company established the Scheme, initially on a defined benefit basis, on 1 June 1984. At the time of the Loan, the Scheme was governed by Deed and Rules dated 21 December 1999 (the 1999 Rules). The 1999 Rules were made between Greenup and Thompson Limited and Nicholas Hutton, Bernard Gray, Andrew Harrison, Marion Kay (Member Trustee) and Terry Waite (Member Trustee). 

26. In 1984, the Scheme loaned £143,500 to the Company. The due date for repayment of the £143,500 was 31 December 2003. 

27. It is common ground that, towards the end of the 1990s, the Company began to run into financial difficulties. Although a management buy out seemed likely, the Company, in May 2000, was acquired by Pymble Partnerships Limited (Pymble). Pymble was owned by the Paynes. Having acquired the Company, the Paynes became Trustees, and Nicholas Hutton, Bernard Gray and Andrew Harrison resigned as directors of the Company. Of the outgoing directors, only Mr Harrison, the Company Accountant, remained as a Trustee. Marion Kay and Terry Waite remained as the Member Trustees.
28. The Paynes said that they wanted to revive the fortunes of the Company by reducing costs and acquiring other business which would compliment the Company’s business activities, and that this required finance.
29. On 22 May 2000, the Scheme Actuary, wrote to the Trustees. The letter is headed “Termination of our appointment as advisers, administrators and my personal appointment as Scheme Actuary” and states:

“I was most disappointed to be advised by phone a little earlier today by Mr Richard Lamborn of Beaumont Robinson that you have decided to terminate our appointment to, and all our involvement with, the above scheme. I understand this is to be with nigh immediate effect. Prior to this phone call, I had received the attached faxed letter signed by A Payne (whom I now understand is one of the two newly appointed trustees) indicating only that you had appointed Beaumont Robinson as advisors…”

30. Mr Lamborn subsequently left Beaumont Robinson and became employed by Smithson Mason Group (SMG). 
THE LOAN

31. On 11 July 2000, the Trustees met. Also in attendance was Mr Richard Lamborn who was a representative of SMG. At the meeting, the Paynes requested that the Trustees advance the Loan to the Company. They said the purpose of the Loan was to finance the purchase of another company. The minutes of the meeting, which were taken by Mr Lamborn, are set out below. Of particular relevance is paragraph 3. 
32. The minutes of the meeting state: 

“1.
Allison Payne informed the meeting that following the change of ownership of the company it had been decided to change administrators to Smithson Mason Financial Services Ltd of Leeds. …
2.
[RL] confirmed that the pension scheme data had been received by Foden Baynes and Smithson Mason and Foden Baynes were in the process of validating the data. Once the data had been validated and Mr Foden had been able to undertake a “thumbnail” actuarial view of the pension fund [RL] suggested that the trustees meet again to discuss it and review the investment strategy of the fund.
3.
The Company requested a temporary loan facility from the trustees of £150,000 to be repaid by 31st December 2000.  The loan was to be made on commercial terms. A copy of the agreement is attached to the minutes. The funds were required by the company to exploit immediate commercial opportunities. The Directors confirmed that additional funding was being made available to the company but it was unlikely to be put in place in the next 8 weeks and there was a danger that the commercial opportunities would be missed. The Trustees were happy to comply with this temporary facility.
4.
…[RL] requested Andrew Harrison advise the Scheme members of the change of administrators. [RL] went on to explain that it was his practice to have pension “clinics” on site for the benefit of the members. This would give the members the opportunities to raise pension queries directly with the scheme’s administrators rather than go through the member nominated trustees…”
33. The terms of the Loan were recorded in two documents, both of which are dated 11 July 2000. The first is signed by the Trustees, save the Paynes, which acknowledges the agreement to make the Loan and sets out the terms. The second document is from the Company to the Trustees acknowledging receipt of £150,000. The Paynes stress that they took no part in the decision making process which is why they did not sign the Loan documentation.  
34. The terms of the Loan were:
34.1. The principal and all outstanding interest will be repaid on or before 31 December 2000.

34.2. The interest rate will be 3% above base accumulating on a daily basis.

34.3. The Loan will be repayable on demand.

34.4. The Company will notify the trustees should the company’s financial position deteriorate.
34.5. The Loan is unsecured. 

35. On 4 August 2000, the Company gave notice to members that benefits in the Scheme would cease to accrue. The announcement states, “The company has taken this decision with great reluctance. The costs of these types of schemes are a huge cost burden, and the company is not in a position to maintain such an arrangement…”  
36. The Scheme became paid up on 31 October 2000, when the Company and the members ceased paying contributions, and commenced winding up on 1 September 2001. 

37. The Company went into voluntary liquidation on 6 September 2001. 

38. At a meeting of the Trustees on 27 November 2001, the Trustees agreed a letter and schedule which was to be sent to KPMG in connection with the audit of financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2000. The schedule attached to the letter can be summarised as follows:
“Breach A – Unpaid employer contributions for the year amounting to £84,614
Trustees’ comments –  

2(c) 
The employer agreed to pay pensioner payments through its payroll which would further reduce self investment at a rate of approximately £9,000 per month. 
3
In May 2000, (when 1st schedule of contributions payment was due to be made) the share ownership of the employer changed as did some of the trustees and advisors. The employer asked for a little time to establish the state and affordability of the pension scheme in liaison with the new advisors, SMG. The employer was expecting to complete the takeover of a complimentary business which would improve the overall profitability of the business and make the pension scheme affordable, otherwise they would have to wind up the scheme.

4.
In July 2000, it appeared that the takeover above was less likely and the employer gave notice to the members and the Union (GPMU) that the scheme would cease in three months’ time as it was no longer affordable given the company’s financial state.” 
SUBMISSIONS

39. The Trustees submit:
39.1. There is substantial evidence that Mr Lamborn of SMG was retained by the Trustees in his capacity as an experienced pensions adviser. In a letter dated 22 May 2000, from Punter Southall to the Trustees, it quite clearly states that Beaumont Robinson had been appointed as advisors (Beaumont Robinson originally employed Mr Lamborn. He then moved to SMG who replaced Beaumont Robinson). The first minute of the Trustees’ meeting in July 2000 makes reference to this. The Trustees were acting on the advice of SMG and were entitled to rely on that advice. 
39.2. At the time the Loan was made, it was thought by the Trustees to be in the best interests of the members as it was beneficial to the future of the Company. There is no question that the Trustees did not act in good faith. 
39.3. The Paynes requested the Loan on behalf of the Company, and Mr Lamborn advised that the Loan was possible if the remainder of the Trustees agreed.

39.4. The repayment dates for each of the Company’s liabilities are clear. The Loan was due to be repaid on or before 31 December 2000. The repayment date for the £143,500 had been agreed with the Inland Revenue as 31 December 2003, and the outstanding employer contributions had no fixed payment date. 
39.5. The notes to the accounts quite clearly show an outstanding loan amount of £130,074 at 31 December 2000 which is less than the £143,500 due for repayment on 31 December 2003.
39.6. The Loan was repaid by August 2001 through payments made by the Company on behalf of the Scheme and is reflected in the audited accounts prepared by KPMG for the year ending 31 December 2000. A provision for bad debt was made in those accounts covering the £143,500 and unpaid employer contributions for a period prior to the winding up of the Scheme. No provision was made against the Loan as this had been repaid.
40. In addition to the joint submissions from the Trustees, Andrew Harrison, through his representative, submits:

40.1. It is accepted that the Trustees were in breach of trust and in breach of the Act and the Regulations. However, the actions taken by the Trustees were as a result of advice received from a professional adviser and the Loan of £150,000 was not outstanding when the Company ceased to trade in November 2001. 
40.2. There is ample evidence to show that Richard Lamborn advised the Trustees as advisors to the Scheme:
40.2.1 The minutes of the 11 July 2000 meeting show that it had been decided to change the administrators of the Scheme to SMG;
40.2.2 Richard Lamborn attended the 11 July 2000 meeting and confirmed that he had received the Scheme data;
40.2.3 In the minutes of the Turnaround Committee meeting held on 27 January 2001 it can be seen under the head of Pension Loan that it was documented that “After taking advice from [RL] the Trustees of the Staff Scheme had invested £150,000 into the Company…”
40.3. An important part of the “prudent man” test is that the Trustees can only be compared against a “prudent man” who has the same information as them at the time the decision was made. The correct position to adopt is whether, at the time the Loan was made, with the information available at that time, the Trustees should have agreed to make the Loan. A number of unforeseen factors affected the Company’s position. As these were unforeseen they would not have been known to the “prudent man” at the time of making the decision as to whether or not to make the Loan. These unforeseen factors were:
40.3.1 a delay in rolling out the full cost cutting plans served to the Company’s detriment;
40.3.2 the planned funding structure fell away or had reduced benefit as a result of the delays and their impact on working capital;
40.3.3 as a result of sector downturn, turnover, suddenly and unexpectedly fell dramatically in April 2001 and again in July 2001;
40.3.4 there was an increase in bad debts that were incurred. Bad debts had been £9,600 in 1999 and were forecast to be £50,000 in 2000 but were actually closer to £100,000 by the end of the year;
40.3.5 a number of high value production runs were rejected, on the two largest accounts, these cost £65,000; and
40.3.6 the business development director left to join a competitor. 

40.4. The principles in Edge and Others v Pensions Ombudsman and Another [1998] Ch 512  apply. The Loan was part of assisting the Company to launch a successful turnaround plan which was genuinely believed would lead to the Company prospering. At the time the decision was taken by the Trustees, it was a reasonable decision to make. This would have been in the long term interests of the Scheme.

40.5. The Scheme had made a loan to the Company previously and this had resulted in a successful Management Buy Out (MBO) of Greenup and Thompson Limited in 1984. Following the MBO the Company went from strength to strength in the 1980s and early 1990s. The situation was similar in that the MBO team invested as part of the funding package, as did the Company’s bank in addition to the Scheme.

40.6. The Trustees knew that the Company had new owners who had a turnaround plan and a proven track record of successful turnaround projects. With hindsight, it appears the Paynes were misled by the previous owners as to the value of the Company (this was borne out by the successful warranty claim that they took against the previous owners) but that could not have been known at the time the Trustees took the decision to make the Loan. 
40.7. The turnaround plans and in particular funding plans were discussed in the Trustee meeting in July 2000. 

40.8. No accounting evidence has been produced to support a conclusion that, as a result of the Loan, the Scheme was in deficit by £130,074. A report (the Report) from an expert Chartered Accountant who specialises in forensic services, reaches the conclusion that the Loan was not only repaid in full but that the Scheme benefited by £13,426.00 (see Appendix). 
40.9. The affect of Rule 8(1) and 8(2) is that the Trustees are indemnified against any breach of trust they are found to have committed, first by the Company and now, because the Company has been dissolved, by the Scheme.
41. In addition to the joint submissions from the Trustees, Mrs Kay submits:

41.1. Her role within the Company was that of a purchasing manager which meant she did not have access to any knowledge with regards to the Company’s financial position. As a lay person, having no specialist knowledge, she relied at all times upon the advice of professional advisors appointed to advise the Trustees; 

41.2. She was a member of the Scheme and therefore consideration of the “prudence test” should take into account that, in part, the Scheme represented her own money and her own pension. By employing advisors, obtaining advice that the Loan was “good business for the Scheme”, and acting on that advice, she did not fail to meet the “prudence” test. She acted entirely in accordance with the duty set out in Cowan v Scargill [1984] 2 All ER 750. The Member-Nominated Trustees exercised the ordinary prudence required of them. It would be unjust to apply the same test in the same way to both the owners of the Company and those trustees having little or no knowledge of the Company’s finances, no expertise in investment matters and who relied on the advice given by an advisor.
41.3. Although the Loan was unsecured, there were express terms that the Company would notify the Trustees should the Company’s financial position deteriorate, and that the Loan was repayable on demand. There did not appear to be any serious risk as the Trustees were informed that additional company funding was being put into place.
41.4. She was not present at the meeting of 27 November 2001 and therefore had no part in agreeing the KPMG schedule.
41.5. The letter of 22 May 2000 is clear that Richard Lamborn was advisor to the Trustees. Mr Lamborn was present at the 11 July 2000 meeting to give advice. It should be assumed that he knew the Loan was illegal, and also that it was imprudent, and by withholding that information he misled the Trustees.
41.6. The notes of the meeting of 11 July 2000 say: “Richard Lamborn suggested the Trustees meet again to review it and review the investment strategy of the fund.” The meeting did take place and Mr Lamborn advised the Trustees to grant the Loan to the Company at that meeting.  
41.7. The Trustees and the Company reached an agreement to pay outstanding contributions at £9,000 per month. The fact that the Company represented to the remainder of the Trustees that could and would be done indicated to the Member Trustees that the promised corporate recovery was in fact working.

41.8. The Independent Trustee should have made a claim for recovery of the unpaid contributions under Section 124 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993. If it has then it cannot claim that the monies paid by the Company in August 2001 should be allocated against outstanding contributions. If it did not make any recovery under Section 124, then the Independent Trustee has not acted in the best interests of the members by ignoring an opportunity to recover outstanding monies.
41.9. Since no repayments were due in respect of the earlier loans, it is unreasonable to assert that any payments made by the Company should have been, or need to have been, applied to those loans. It is equally perverse to argue that repayments may be applied to a loan that was not due for repayment, at the expense of one that was.
41.10. It is neither reasonable nor logical to assume that, if repayments of the Loan had not been required to be made, repayments of the earlier loan would have been made instead. If the Company was in financial difficulty, then it was very unlikely that unnecessarily early repayment would have been made. Any excess would have been retained within the Company to assist its recovery. 
42. The Independent Trustee submits:
42.1. At the time the Loan was made, SMG were appointed to advise the Company, not the Trustees, on pension matters. 
42.2. Mr Lamborn may have performed an advisory role in connection with Scheme matters, but that does not demonstrate that he provided advice to the Trustees in respect of the Loan. If significance is to be placed upon Mr Lamborn’s presence at the meeting in July 2000, then it should also be recognised that, as evidenced in paragraph 3 of the meeting minutes, no reference is made to the Trustees seeking or obtaining advice in relation to the Company’s request for the Loan.  

42.3. The Trustees purportedly sought advice as to whether they had the power to grant the Loan. That involves interpreting the Scheme rules and statute and constitutes legal advice. In order for the Trustees to be able to act on legal advice provided by Mr Lamborn, either he or his employers would have to be appointed under Section 47 of the Pensions Act 1995. For the Trustees to be excluded from liability under Section 33 of the Pensions Act 1995, they would have been required to appoint Mr Lamborn as a fund manager in accordance with Section 34 of that Act. There is no evidence of either appointment having been made.
42.4. The accounts to 31 December 2000, prepared by KPMG, at note 9, confirm that loan repayments had been made during the year but that loans of approximately £202,000 remained outstanding. The Trustees assert that funds paid by the Company were intended to be in settlement of the Loan rather than any of the other debts it owed to the Scheme (such as outstanding contributions due from the Company). The Trustees were not entitled to adopt such a selective approach to the application of funds received from the Company.
42.5. When reviewing note 9 alongside note 12, it should be borne in mind that the Scheme accounts for the period were drawn up and signed some 12 months later, and some two months after the Company ceased to trade. As a consequence, many of the details (including the provision made in respect of £130,074) reflected accounting decisions taken by KPMG some considerable time after decisions and actions in relation to the Loan were taken. 
42.6. The Company’s financial statements were prepared by Mr Harrison in his capacity as Finance Director of the Company.  His conflict of interest is obvious.  The statements seem to have been prepared with a view to mitigating the effect of the various breaches of the Pensions Act 1995 that had occurred.
42.7. The Company is shown quite clearly as having commenced steps to repay all of its outstanding debts to the Scheme, but at the point it ceased to trade, only £163,426 of the £457,225 outstanding had been repaid.  
42.8. The Company’s objective is referred to more directly in the letter and schedule tabled at the Trustees’ meeting on 27 November 2001. In the schedule, it is stated in the notes to Breach A that the repayments were part of an already established arrangement between the Trustees and the Company to pay pensions via payroll in order to reduce the existing excessive employer-related investment percentage.  The continuation of this arrangement did not entitle the Trustees to regard the Loan as having been repaid, when earlier and contemporaneous debts remained ignored.
42.9. The Loan was illegal, it should be repaid by way of a single payment outside the Company’s normal contributions to the scheme.  Any payments made by the Company to the Scheme can only be considered as repayment of part of the Loan if the Company had been completely up to date with the contributions.    
42.10. The Independent Trustee also submits that the outstanding contributions from the Company should be treated by the Trustees as a debt pursuant to Section 59(2) of the Act.  As such, the outstanding contributions should have been prioritised over the Loan.  Section 59 was repealed on 4 December 2005.

43. Following further investigation, the Independent Trustee has confirmed to me that  they claimed the maximum amount due under Section 124 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 being the employer contributions due but unpaid during the twelve months prior to the date of the appointment of the Insolvency Practitioner (6 September 2001). The Independent Trustee received a payment of £28,510 during the year ended 30 June 2006.   

CONCLUSIONS

44. The first point to establish is whether the Trustees have committed a breach of trust. In order to answer this question it is necessary to weigh the actions of the Trustees against the standard expected of them in law.

45. Pension scheme trustees are, when exercising their general powers of investment, exempted from the duty of care as set out in the Trustee Act 2000. However, settled authority has established the standard of care expected of trustees.

46. The basic duty of the Trustees, in exercising their investment powers, is to “take such care as an ordinary prudent man would take if he were minded to [make an investment] for the benefit of other people for whom he felt morally bound to provide” (Re Whiteley (1886) 33 Ch D 347). 
47. This “prudent man” test was developed by the House of Lords, in Whiteley, where Lord Watson stated:
“As a general rule the law requires of a trustee no higher degree of diligence in the execution of his office than a man of ordinary prudence would exercise in the management of his own private affairs. Yet he is not allowed the same discretion in investing the money of the trusts as if he were a person sui juris dealing with his own estate. Business men of ordinary prudence may, and frequently do, select investments which are more or less of a speculative character; but it is the duty of a trustee to confine himself to the class of investments which are permitted by the trust, and likewise to avoid all investments of that class which are attended with hazard.”
48. In Cowan v Scargill [1984] 2 All ER 750, the court added that trustees, in addition to the duty as set out above, were duty bound to obtain advice when making investments which they did not understand.
THE CONDUCT OF THE TRUSTEES

49. Did the Trustees’ conduct meet the “prudent man” test? In short, would prudent trustees, in the same position, have decided to advance the Company the Loan? The short answer in my view is no.
50. The 1999 Rules provide the Trustees with a broad discretion when making investments, including loans, subject to the provisions of Section 40 of the Act. Section 40 of the Act, and its accompanying regulations, are plain. The view of the Pensions Regulator is that the loans made by the Trustees to the Company are illegal: advancing the Loan was a criminal offence. However, even ignoring the illegality of the Loan, there are many other reasons why, in my opinion, prudent trustees would not have advanced it.  

51. The Trustees knew, in July 2000, that the Company owed large sums of money to the Scheme in the form of the £143,500, in addition to the outstanding employer contributions. To make matters worse, the £143,500 was on an unsecured basis. 

52. Taking this into account, I cannot see how, as of 11 July 2000, the Company appeared to the Trustees to be anything other than a liability. To advance yet more money from an under-funded Scheme to the Company can, at best, be termed high risk. To make such a high risk decision without security is, in my opinion, hazardous. I cannot detect from the documents that the Trustees even considered taking security. In fact, the notes of the meeting explicitly state that the Trustees were “happy” to advance the Loan. This should not have been their reaction. Moreover, nothing seems to have been obtained to corroborate the assertion that this was a temporary arrangement as additional finance, presumably on the basis that further bank borrowing had been arranged 
53. The Trustees, in their defence, state that they made the Loan in order to try and maintain the Company’s status as an ongoing concern, which would be in turn beneficial to the members’ interests. They argue that the principles in Edge v Pensions Ombudsman, apply here. 
54. The principles established in Edge are that in reaching a decision, the decision makers must ask the right questions, construe the Rules correctly and only take into account relevant matters. They should not come to a perverse decision, i.e. a decision which no other reasonable decision maker faced with the same evidence would come to. The Trustees say that, the Loan was part of assisting the Company to launch a successful turnaround plan and that the decision to make it was taken in the long term interests of the Scheme. 
55. I see nothing wrong in the Trustees’ wish to assist the Company if for no other reason than to protect their own employment. However, that does not affect my view that, at the time the decision to grant the Loan was made, it was not a reasonable or prudent investment to make. The reality is that the Trustees knew that the reason they were being asked to grant the Loan was to shore up the Company’s finances. Moreover, the Loan was unsecured. A prudent trustee would have considered these factors against the background of the Scheme already having an outstanding loan and substantial arrears of contributions. 
56. Further, if the Trustees had given serious thought to the prudence of the Loan in light of the finances of the Company, which it appears they did not, they would, even on the evidence of the Report, have realised that the ability of the Company to repay the Loan was dependent upon “cost cutting measures being implemented, refinancing and sales being maintained.”  (see paragraph 2.25 of the Report). This highlights the risk that was attached to making the Loan. 
57. I also note from the schedule attached to the letter, agreed on 27 November 2001, that the Trustees knew from July 2000 that the Company’s financial health was so poor that the Scheme would terminate by October, and that the takeover was unlikely to go ahead. This makes the Trustees’ position untenable. 
58. In short, a prudent trustee, on being asked to provide the Loan, would have refused, preferring to preserve the members’ benefits rather than risk yet more funds on a hazardous investment. 
59. I note that the Paynes are keen to emphasise that they attended the Trustees’ meeting in their capacity as Directors, and took no part in the decision as to whether the Loan ought to be advanced. They point to the fact that they did not sign the Loan documentation. However, this does not excuse them. In their capacity as Directors, and in contrast to the Member Trustees, the Paynes, along with Andrew Harrison in his capacity as Finance Director, had a unique insight into the health of the Company and the circumstances surrounding the short-term finance promised at the meeting. It should, at the time the Loan was made, have been as apparent to them as to the other Trustees that investing in the Company in this way was a high risk strategy. However, they chose not to make this plain to the rest of the Trustees at the meeting when the Loan was sought.  Furthermore, I have seen no evidence to support their claim that the short-term finance they mentioned was ever actually arranged. I see no basis therefore for excluding the Paynes from any liability attaching to the Trustees generally; indeed, arguably, the part they played in the process leading to the making of the Loan was of most significance, something which may be worthy of consideration in any enforcement of my directions. 
60. Mrs Kay submits that she and Mr Waite, in their capacity as Member Trustees, had only very limited knowledge of the Company’s financial state. I can accept that Mrs Kay and Mr Waite would possibly not have had the in-depth knowledge that the Paynes and Mr Harrison would, or should, have possessed. However, both Mrs Kay and Mr Waite knew, when agreeing to the Loan, that its purpose was to boost the Company’s finances and this in itself should have alerted them to the fact that this was a high risk investment. They must also have been aware of the already outstanding loan, the significant arrears in contributions and the fact that the Loan was to be made on an unsecured basis. Further, the Actuarial Review as at 31 December 1998, issued by the Actuary on 23 December 1999, just seven months before the Loan was made, clearly states that the Company had had “recent cash flow problems”
61. Therefore, in light of the knowledge that Mrs Kay and Mr Waite did possess, I do not consider their agreement to the making of the Loan to have been prudent. 
 TAKING ADVICE

62. The Trustees have submitted that they received advice from Mr Lamborn, who was an “expert pensions adviser”, that the Loan was “permissible”, and that they relied on his advice. In effect, they hope to excuse their actions on the basis that Mr Lamborn gave them advice. I do not consider this to be a point on which the Trustees can rely. 
63. The Independent Trustee submits that SMG were appointed to advise the Company, not the Trustees. The role of SMG was not readily discernible from the papers initially submitted. The minutes of the meeting on 11 July 2000, for instance, describe SMG as the Scheme “administrators”.  However, further evidence, submitted later in the investigation, does indicate that SMG were appointed as advisor to the Trustees rather than the Company. I note, however, that there appears to be no letter of appointment as the Trustees’ Financial Adviser nor, perhaps more importantly, as their Legal Adviser or Fund Manager. However, I do not consider the precise basis of SMG’s and Mr Lamborn’s involvement to be relevant.
64. Although Mr Lamborn may have given advice that the Loan was “permissible”, when it was, it seems, illegal, that does not mean that it was also prudent and in the best interests of the members of the Scheme. I have set out above why I do not believe the Loan was a prudent investment. 

65. Further, there is nothing to indicate from the minutes of the meeting on 11 July 2000, that the Trustees either asked for, or received, any advice from Mr Lamborn whatsoever. This is certainly true in so far as whether the Loan was prudent or not.
66. There is also no evidence to suggest that the Trustees delegated their decision as to whether to exercise their discretion regarding the Loan to Mr Lamborn, or that they retained him as the Scheme’s Fund Manager within the meaning of Section 124 of the Act. This is significant with respect to Section 33 of the Act to which I now turn. 
SECTION 33 OF THE ACT 
67. In order to protect trustees from being made personally liable for a breach of trust, it is common for pension scheme rules to contain a clause affording such protection in certain circumstances. The 1999 Rules are no different. Rule 8(1) (the “Exemption Clause”), exonerates the Trustees from liability save for those acts which occur due to their own wilful neglect or default.

68. However, Section 33 of the Act renders the Exemption Clause void. This is because Section 33 denies any attempt to afford protection where the Trustees, in exercising an investment function (advancing the Loan), have failed to take care and exercise skill. Here, (a) the Loan was illegal and (b) the Trustees did not meet the “prudent man” test. 
69. In my view therefore the Trustees cannot rely on the Exemption Clause contained in Rule 8(1). Neither can they rely on the provisions of Section 34(4) of the Act, namely, that they have delegated their investment functions to a fund manager. For the reasons given in paragraph 66 above, Section 34(4) does not apply. I consider further below the extent to which Rule 8(2) may be effective in providing an indemnity in respect of any liability I find.
THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE LOAN
70. The consequence of a breach of trust is that the defaulting Trustees must “restore the trust fund to the equivalent financial position had the breach of trust not occurred”
. The breach in this case was to advance the Loan. However, a key submission advanced by the Trustees is that the Loan has been repaid.  
71. The Trustees submit that the Loan was repaid by August 2001 through payments made by the Company on behalf of the Scheme, and that these payments are reflected in the audited accounts for the year ending 31 December 2000. The Report supports this view and states that it is, “self evident that the payments made on behalf of the Scheme during 2000 were in recognition of the Second Loan being advanced.”(at paragraph 2.20). The payments made during 2000 totalled nearly £91,000 (inclusive of waived administration charges due to the Company). 
72. The Scheme accounts clearly show the deemed repayments being treated as loan repayments, rather than payments of the outstanding employer contributions. The repayments are not, however, treated as going specifically towards any one loan. Indeed, the provision in the accounts for outstanding loans is reached by adding the earlier loan of £143,500 to the £150,000 loaned in July 2000 and deducting payments made on behalf of the Scheme. That produces a figure of £202,598 outstanding at the year end. A provision of £130,074 (£202,598 - £72,524) is made against this amount recognising that further payments on behalf of the Scheme totalling £72,524 were made after the year end.

73. An important question is whether the payments on behalf of the Scheme were actually made at the time in order to pay off the Loan. If they were not, then it follows that, if financially viable, the payments on behalf of the Scheme would still have been made regardless of the Loan.
74. The ‘Turnaround Committee Minutes’ of 27 January 2001 are significant in providing an answer to this question. These minutes record that “the loan has not been repaid due to lack of funds, which is a serious concern to the directors and Trustees.”

75. In my view, this quotation is not consistent with the submission that nearly £91,000 of the Loan had already been repaid by the time of the meeting in January 2001. If the payments on behalf of the Scheme were being made to pay off the Loan, then I would have expected the minutes of the 27 January 2001 meeting to have reflected that fact. In addition, I would have expected them to have recorded something to the effect that 60% of the Loan had been repaid through payments on behalf of the Scheme and that that was the method by which the remainder of the Loan was to be repaid. The fact that the minutes contain nothing of this sort leads me to the conclusion that the payments were only regarded as going towards repayments of the Loan in retrospect. It does not therefore follow that, absent the Loan, the payments would not have been made.
76. I note that the Report states that it would not have been “logical” (paragraph 2.20) for the Company to have made these payments in the absence of the need to repay the Loan. However, the simple fact remains that, whether or not it was “logical”, the January 2001 minutes support the view that these payments were not, at the time, being considered as going towards the repayment of the Loan. 
77. One further issue, however, is whether in the absence of the Loan the Company would have been able to afford to continue making the payments on behalf of the Scheme. The Report states that, “Without advancing the Second Loan in July 2000 the Company would have ceased making pension payments and paying administration costs on behalf of the Scheme. As a consequence, the Second Loan secured that ongoing payments were made on behalf of the Scheme.” (paragraph 2.15). However, that seems to me to be pure speculation, and a number of other factors would have played a part in the Company’s decision to continue making the payments. I am not persuaded that it was the Loan itself that enabled the payments on behalf of the Scheme to be made. Indeed, payments on behalf of the Scheme were being made prior to the Loan being made and simply continued after it. 
78. Therefore, I conclude that, on the balance of probabilities, as a matter of fact, the payments on behalf of the Scheme would still have been made in the absence of the Loan and any need to repay it. I can see no basis for concluding that the payments would have been treated as payment of arrears of contributions. The accounts reflect the payments as being made against the global loan total. I conclude, therefore, that, but for the Loan these payments would, in all probability, have been credited against the earlier loan at the time that the accounts for the year ending December 2000 were prepared. Those payments would have repaid the earlier loan in its entirety. Instead, an outstanding amount of £130,074 remained when the Company went into voluntary liquidation on 6 September 2001. 
79. Therefore, as a result of the Loan, the Scheme, at the date it went into wind-up, was still owed £130,074 in outstanding loans.
INDEMNITY

80. It has been submitted that the Trustees are entitled to be indemnified first by the Company and, failing that, from the Scheme for any liability arising as a result of the decision to make the Loan. Rule 8(2) is relied upon and it is said that Section 33 of the Act has no impact in this regard.
81. The Company was dissolved on 16 August 2007 and therefore, irrespective of whether or not I found the indemnity clause to be effective in this context, there is no realistic prospect of the Company providing any indemnity to the Trustees. Moreover, the ability of the Trustees to benefit from any indemnity owed to them by the Company is a matter for them to pursue independently of this complaint.
82. As regards the Scheme, it would be entirely contrary to the clear purpose of Section 33 of the Act for the Trustees to be able to indemnify themselves out of the very fund whose assets had been imprudently invested. Therefore, to the extent that Rule 8(2) seeks to achieve that end I consider that it is rendered ineffective by Section 33.
83. It follows therefore that I make appropriate directions requiring restitution of the trust fund. 
84. I do not consider that the directions should take any account of the £28,510.00 that the Scheme has received from the Secretary of State towards unpaid contributions pursuant to section 124 of the 1993 Act. That sum of money would have been received whether or not the Loan had been made as a result of the significant level of arrears of contributions that had accrued at the time the Company went into liquidation.
85. It is a generally accepted principle of trust law that all parties to a breach of trust are jointly and severally liable and the directions below are made accordingly.
DIRECTIONS
86. I direct that the Trustees (jointly and severally) shall pay £130,074 to the Scheme, within 56 days from the date of this Determination, together with simple interest as from 11 July 2000 calculated on a daily basis at the rate for the time being quoted by the reference banks.
CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

9 July 2008

APPENDIX

Report, commissioned by A Harrison, summarising the impact on the Scheme of the Loan, in particular, whether the Scheme suffered a loss as a result of advancing the Loan.

 “Conclusion 
Although the Company ultimately failed and hindsight may reflect poorly on the decision taken by the Trustees in 2000, it is appropriate to assess any financial decision, including the decision taken by the Trustees to make the Second Loan, on the basis of information and circumstances existing at the time.  

In May 2000 there was a viable business for which projections showed positive cashflow from operating activities.  Such positive cashflow was sufficient to repay the Second Loan at the end of 2000, as well as interest on the Loan and also to support ongoing pension payments to pensioners on the Scheme’s behalf.  This was however dependent on cost cutting measures being implemented, refinancing and sales being maintained. Even later on, the Administrative Receivers concluded that prospects for the Company looked good heading into 2001. Ultimately, the Company failed due to factors arising in 2001 that could not have been foreseen by the Trustees, or anyone else advancing funds to the Company, back in July 2000. 
Based on the information provided to us, we conclude that but for the Second Loan, it is likely that the Company would have sought to bolster its working capital position by ceasing to make payments on behalf of the Scheme in July 2000 and would also then have sought to claw back payments previously made on behalf of the Scheme earlier in that year, that is to say the Company would have sought that payments made by the Company to pensioners be repaid by the Scheme as they were Scheme liabilities not Company liabilities.  But for receiving the Second Loan, the Company would not instead have sought to repay the First Loan.

As a direct consequence of the Scheme making the Second Loan therefore, the Company made incremental payments on behalf of the Scheme of £163,426, giving rise to a net benefit to the Scheme of £13,426, calculated as follows:
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Incremental payments due to Second Loan

2000

Payments made on behalf of Scheme in 2000 73,549        

Waived adminstration charges due to Company 39,857        

Less: payments to Company by Scheme  (22,504)

90,902        

2001

Payments made on behalf of Scheme in 2001 72,524        

163,426      

Less: Second Loan (150,000)

Net benefit to Scheme from making Second Loan 13,426        


We conclude therefore that the Scheme suffered no loss as a result of making the Second Loan and in fact benefited by £13,426 as a direct consequence.  We suggest that had the Second Loan not been made and the £150,000 been invested instead with other funds retained by the Scheme it is likely to have lost value according to the Trustee’s Reports from 31 December 2000 and 30 June 2002.  

…

In the following section we consider the financial position of the Company at the time the Second Loan was advanced, the basis on which the Trustees approved the Second Loan and also the implications for the Scheme but for the Second Loan being made at that time. 

The Company’s performance

Having been profitable in 1997, in the two years leading up to the acquisition of shares by Pymble in 2000, the Company had been loss making, with net turnover, gross profit and net losses being as follows: 

  [image: image2.emf]1997 1998 1999 2000

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Turnover 5,596 5,931 5,990 Unknown

Gross profit 1,320 1,301 1,148 1,576

Gross margin 23.6% 21.9% 19.2% N/A

Net profit/(loss) before tax 117 (87) (298) (201)


As a result of the decline in underlying financial performance, the Company had been unable to meet in full its obligations to pay employer contributions to the Scheme.  As a result, from 31 December 1997 unpaid employer contributions began to build.  The shortfall in employer contributions each year according to the Scheme Trustee Reports were then as follows: 

[image: image3.emf]Year ended 31 December 1997 1998 1999

£ £ £

Unpaid contributions 20,617      102,921    226,240   


Clearly, from the above it can be seen that whilst some contributions were paid in 1998, by 1999 the level of Company net employer contributions to the Scheme were negligible as the Company’s financial performance deteriorated.  Indeed, by the end of 1998 the contributions due to the Scheme from the Company stood at £88,421 (see attached Pension Contributions Monthly Analysis included at Appendix 3), however, by the end of 1999 the amount due from the Company had increased to £199,762 (see Appendix 3).  It is clear that the Company was unable to afford to pay the contributions that were due from it, although it did continue making payments on behalf of the Scheme in relation to pension liabilities and administration costs. 

In 1999 the total combined contributions due to the Scheme from the Company and Scheme members was £279,135.  The Scheme was required to pay pensioners £97,281 during the year and this was paid directly by the Company.  The Company also incurred further administration costs paid on behalf of the Scheme which amounted to £60,514.  This resulted in an outstanding balance due from the Company of £121,340.  During the year however only £10,000 was paid into the Scheme, resulting in a net increase in amounts due to the Scheme of £111,340.  

Given the increase in unpaid contributions from the Company in 1999, it was likely that during 2000 the Company would fall further behind in meeting its contributions to the Scheme. 

In fact at the start of 2000 the Company implemented the recommendations of a revised contributions schedule prepared by its actuarial advisors which resulted in no employer contributions accruing in January, February and March that year, with the result that only employee contributions accrued in those months.  Despite this however, the Company continued to make payments on behalf of the Scheme such that by the end of March 2000 the Company had met total further costs due from the Scheme of £4,124 (see Appendix 4).  

When employer contributions began again in April 2000 there had been a change in circumstances such that the Company was no longer able to afford to maintain the Scheme.  The Company had up until that point made payments on behalf of the Scheme without seeking to recoup, or “claw back”, those costs from the Scheme on the basis that they would be offset against the Company’s contribution liability.  At this point however the Company would have been entitled and compelled to consider not only ceasing to pay contributions but also ceasing to pay pensions and administration costs on behalf of the Scheme. 
It was clear that as the Company could no longer afford to make further payments to the Scheme and any payments made from that point onwards towards Scheme liabilities stood to be recouped, or “clawed back”, by the Company - that is to say the Company would have sought that payments made by the Company to pensioners be repaid by the Scheme as they were Scheme liabilities not Company liabilities.

The basis on which the Second Loan was made

In consultation with the new owners, who had acquired control in May 2000, on the basis that sales remained good, it was agreed that the Scheme would make a short term loan (the Second Loan) to the Company.  This with the express purpose of providing a short term breathing space in order to enable the Company to implement aggressive cost savings measures, such being sufficient to make the Company profitable on the basis of known turnover levels at that time.  There were obvious benefits to the Scheme if the Company was able to continue trading, and the circumstances were such that, at the time, the prospects for the Company were good so long as the cost cutting measures could be introduced. 

Included at Appendix 5 is a copy of the cashflow forecast prepared by the Company’s new owners at the time.  This shows that the business was a viable proposition from May 2000 with net cash inflows being generated from normal operating activities, this after allowing for pension salaries and interest on the Second Loan to continue being paid.

The terms on which the Second Loan was advanced were such that the Company would repay the loan before the end of 2000 as its new funding structure fell into place – this is reflected in the forecast included at Appendix 5.  However, the Company was aware that should full repayment not take place then by continuing to make pension payments on behalf of the Scheme and not seeking to claw back these monies into the company the Second Loan would be repaid during 2001 in any event. 
In effect, this also served to save the Scheme costs, because had the Scheme then been required to pay pensions and meet its own administration costs it would have incurred additional administration costs in establishing the means with which to administer the day to day running of the Scheme and to then administer the monthly payments and record keeping required going forward.

Whilst the basis on which the Second Loan was agreed was such that repayment would be imminent - being quickly recouped by the offset of the Second Loan against Scheme liabilities defrayed by the Company in the year to date and going forward - the wider benefit to the Scheme from making the Second Loan was to enable the Company to continue trading.  The obvious benefits of this to the Scheme being to improve the prospect of recovering outstanding contributions due from the Company, as well as the First Loan. 

Without advancing the Second Loan in July 2000 the Company would have ceased making pension payments and paying administration costs on behalf of the Scheme.   As a consequence, the Second Loan secured that ongoing payments were made on behalf of the Scheme.  The net benefit received by the Scheme as a result of the Second Loan therefore amounted to the value of costs met by the Company going forward net of  any Scheme members’ contributions, to the extent that such costs were not then recouped, either by the Company (as it was entitled to do), or by any administrative receivers subsequently appointed. 

Due to its cashflow position in 2000, the Company needed as much working capital as possible in order to continue trading.  That is not to say that the Company would therefore necessarily have failed, as we understand that it was operating to a work out plan that may well have been viable given the underlying market conditions at the time.  Although the Company ultimately failed, it would not seem appropriate to judge whether or not the decision to advance the Second Loan was prudent by applying the benefit of hindsight without considering the cashflow position and circumstances at the time.  Indeed the Administrative Receivers in their Report to Creditors of 15 November 2001 reported that the prospects of the Company looked good heading into 2001, with revenues strong, costs cut and the Company in a position to perform extremely well.

In 2001 a number of events and factors conspired against the Company which served to undermine both its performance and underlying finances.  I am informed by Mr Harrison that these included the following:  

a delay in rolling out the full cost cutting plans served to the Company’s detriment;
the planned funding structure fell away or had reduced benefit as a result of the delays and their impact on working capital;
as a result of a sector downturn, turnover, from record levels, suddenly and unexpectedly fell dramatically in April 2001.  It did so again in July 2001;
there was an increase in bad debts that were incurred (bad debts had been £9,600 in 1999, they were forecast to be £50,000 in 2000 but were actually closer to £100,000 by the end of the year);
a number of high value production runs were rejected (on the two largest accounts alone, BT Cellnet and Disney, these cost £65,000); and
the business development director left to join a competitor (John Davis, first noted in the Turnaround minutes from January 2001). 

All of these factors fell outside the usual contingencies factored in when assessing future business performance and projections such that ultimately, the Company failed due to factors arising in 2001 that could not have been foreseen by the Trustees, or anyone else advancing funds to the Company, back in July 2000.

What payments to the Scheme would the Company have made but for the Second Loan

With regard to whether or not the Company would have continued making payments on behalf of the Scheme and whether it would have instead paid off the First Loan had the Second Loan not been made, we would suggest it is misleading to conclude on this without recognising the circumstances at the time.  

In reality, the Company had no ongoing formal liability to make payments on behalf of the Scheme, as was reflected by the subsequent action brought by the Administrative Receivers to claw back the payments made on behalf of the Scheme after they had been appointed.  Indeed, despite making such payments in the past, given the new owners’ intention to end the final salary scheme (the notice period was all that prevented this happening on day one in July 2000) it would have been unsound financially, in a turnaround situation such as this, where working capital was at a premium, for the new owners to continue to endorse the “established arrangement” without having had some incentive to do so.

We would suggest it to be self evident that the payments made on behalf of the Scheme during 2000 were in recognition of the Second Loan being advanced, it would otherwise be uneconomic for a company, struggling with its cashflow, to elect to continue making payments on behalf of a pension scheme when it might easily simply cease making those payments altogether in order to release additional, much needed, working capital.  Opting to continue making payments on behalf of the Scheme certainly does not sit comfortably with the Deputy Pension Ombudsmen’s Preliminary Conclusion that the Company had a history of using the Scheme as a bank from which to borrow on very favourable terms.  Had that been the case in 2000, one would have expected the Company to simply cease making payments altogether.  That it did not implies that there was an incentive not to do so.

In the same way that it would not have been logical for the Company to continue making payments on behalf of the Scheme, it would also not have been logical for it to have opted to repay the First Loan any sooner than it would otherwise have been obliged to - which was not until 31 December 2003.  Financially it would make no sense at all for a struggling company working to a turn around plan to look to pay off its loans earlier than was necessary.

The forecast balance sheet that was prepared at the time (see Appendix 6) shows that there was no intention to repay existing pension contribution arrears or any of the outstanding First Loan balance, although it was intended that the Second Loan, together with interest accruing on that loan, would be repaid. 

We would conclude therefore that, but for advance of the Second Loan, given the circumstances, the Company would have ceased making all non essential payments. In effect, that would have meant ceasing to pay the payments on behalf of the Scheme and would certainly not have meant repaying the First Loan early.

Conclusion

Although the Company ultimately failed and hindsight may reflect poorly on the decision taken by the Trustees in 2000, it is appropriate to assess any financial decision, including the decision taken by the Trustees to make the Second Loan, on the basis of information and circumstances existing at the time.  

In May 2000 there was a viable business for which projections showed positive cashflow from operating activities.  Such positive cashflow was sufficient to repay the Second Loan at the end of 2000, as well as interest on the Loan and also to support ongoing pension payments to pensioners on the Scheme’s behalf.  This was however dependent on cost cutting measures being implemented, refinancing and sales being maintained.  Even later on, the Administrative Receivers concluded that prospects for the Company looked good heading into 2001.  Ultimately,  the Company failed due to factors arising in 2001 that could not have been foreseen by the Trustees, or anyone else advancing funds to the Company, back in July 2000.  

Based on the information provided to us, we conclude that but for the Second Loan, it is likely that the Company would have sought to bolster its working capital position by ceasing to make payments on behalf of the Scheme in July 2000 and would also then have sought to claw back payments previously made on behalf of the Scheme earlier in that year, that is to say the Company would have sought that payments made by the Company to pensioners be repaid by the Scheme as they were Scheme liabilities not Company liabilities.  But for receiving the Second Loan, the Company would not instead have sought to repay the First Loan.

In the following section we consider the net benefit secured by the Scheme as a result of making the Second Loan. 

Up to the point at which the Scheme accounts for 2000 were completed, all payments made on behalf of the Scheme in 2000 by the Company could at any time have been clawed back by the Company – that is to say that the Company could have sought repayment of those amounts from the Scheme as it was meeting the Scheme’s direct liabilities and not its own.  However, in contemplation of the Second Loan in July 2000 we have been informed that the Company agreed not to seek to claw back any costs over and above Scheme members’ contributions that it had paid on behalf of the Scheme.

We include at Appendix 7 a summary of the Scheme trial balance as at 31 December 2000, which shows highlighted the Second Loan outstanding to the Company of £150,000, together with a credit balance of £90,902.  The credit balance relates to the net costs incurred by the Company in 2000 which it was understood were paid on the basis that they would be offset against the amount outstanding in relation to the Second Loan.

This credit balance was in respect of net costs incurred by the Company on behalf of the Scheme in 2000 (see Appendix 8) and which comprised £183,887 in respect of pension benefits and direct administration costs paid by the Company and administration charges levied by the Company, less amounts contributed by Scheme members during the year of £70,481 and £22,505 of administration charges actually reimbursed by the Scheme to the Company.  

By netting off the £90,902 loan repayments the combined value of the loans owed to the Scheme were reflected in the Scheme’s accounts for 31 December 2000 at £202,598 (£143,500 + £150,000 - £90,902).  We note that these accounts were audited, and that therefore, the Company’s auditors, KPMG, concurred that this treatment was correct.  The independent auditors confirmed that the accounts showed a true and fair view of the financial transactions for the scheme during the year ended 31 December 2000.  

We understand that in 2001 the Company continued to pay pension costs on behalf of the Scheme, and that as the Scheme had closed in 2000 there were no ongoing contributions from Scheme members and there was no immediate need for the Company to make those payments.  Nevertheless, the Company continued to make the payments in recognition that these would serve to reduce the amount outstanding in relation to the Second Loan.

Whilst the Company continued to make payments after the appointment of the administrative receivers in September 2001, Menzies then sought to claw back sums paid on behalf of the Scheme from the date on which they were appointed.  As a consequence, the Second Loan repayments -  the amounts paid by the Company which were intended to be offset against the Second Loan - ceased in August 2001.  Mr Harrison has informed us that, as the Scheme had ceased in October 2000, administration charges incurred after that date were minimal and hence all repayments in 2001 arose in relation to pensioner salaries that were paid directly by the Company on behalf of the Scheme.  The total net repayments made in 2001 that were not subsequently clawed back therefore totals £72,524 (these are highlighted in the schedule at Appendix 10).      

Conclusion

As a direct consequence of the Scheme making the Second Loan therefore, the Company made incremental payments on behalf of the Scheme of £163,426, giving rise to a net benefit to the Scheme of £13,426, calculated as follows:

[image: image4.emf]£ £

Incremental payments due to Second Loan

2000

Payments made on behalf of Scheme in 2000 73,549        

Waived adminstration charges due to Company 39,857        

Less: payments to Company by Scheme  (22,504)

90,902        

2001

Payments made on behalf of Scheme in 2001 72,524        

163,426      

Less: Second Loan (150,000)

Net benefit to Scheme from making Second Loan 13,426        


We conclude therefore that the Scheme suffered no loss as a result of making the Second Loan and in fact benefited by £13,426 as a direct consequence.  We suggest that had the  Second Loan not been made and the £150,000 been invested instead with other funds retained by the Scheme it is likely to have lost value according to the Trustee’s Reports from 31 December 2000 and 30 June 2002.”
� Snell 31st edition page 688
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